S249895

No.		
110.		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ABBOTT LABORATORIES; ABBVIE INC.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES, LTD.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.; BARR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS SALES CORP

Petitioners.

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Real Parties in Interest.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 1, No. D072577

Superior Court, County of Orange Civil Case No. 30-2016-00879117-CU-BT-CXC Honorable Kim G. Dunning

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This petition seeks review of important, heavily contested, issues of first impression regarding the geographic scope of remedies that may be awarded in actions filed by a district attorney under California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), particularly when the alleged wrongdoing occurs not only in one county, but also harms consumers throughout the state. Specifically, the questions presented are as follows:

- 1. In a complaint filed by a district attorney alleging statewide violations under the UCL, is the trial court's power to order monetary penalties and restitution limited to protect consumers only in one county, such that the trial court may only order monetary sanctions for the violations occurring in that single county, or does the trial court have the power to order the full range of remedies specified in the UCL to protect all consumers in the state upon a properly filed law enforcement complaint?
- 2. Must a district attorney, who is expressly authorized to file cases on behalf of the People of the State of California in UCL actions, obtain "written consent by the Attorney General and other county district attorneys" before filing a UCL complaint that alleges statewide misconduct to enable the court to grant the full remedies available under the UCL to protect California consumers?

3. In providing a judicial opinion on the above questions that were not yet reached by the trial court or the state legislature, did the Fourth District exceed its jurisdiction in mandating the Respondent Court to grant a motion to strike true factual references to the state of California from the district attorney's complaint at the pleading stage?

II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

District attorneys are expressly authorized to file UCL actions "on behalf of the People of the State of California" for "any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice." (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17204 & 17206, subd. (a).) "[A]ny court of competent jurisdiction" is, in turn, expressly authorized to: (1) enjoin such behavior; (2) enter orders for restitution to restore "any money or property" to "any person" harmed by the bad acts; and (3) to impose civil penalties "for each violation" so as to punish and deter "any person who engages" in unlawful and unfair competition in this state. (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17203, 17204 & 17206, subd. (a).) Under this simple framework, district attorneys have been bringing UCL law enforcement actions in courts throughout the state to protect California consumers for decades.

The present case is no exception. However, according to the Fourth District's unprecedented holding below, the courts may no longer order the full range of monetary remedies authorized in the UCL to protect the public in cases like this. According to the Fourth District, the full range of remedies

are only available in a district attorney's statewide UCL case if the district attorney first obtains "written consent from the Attorney General and other county district attorneys" to proceed with the prosecution. Without such "written consent," according to the Majority's Opinion, the trial court is now limited in this case (and all similar cases) to imposing monetary sanctions only for a fraction of total statewide violations occurring in the particular district attorney's county.

The problem is simple: there is no such "written consent" requirement in the UCL. By adopting a new written consent procedure not found anywhere in the UCL (or elsewhere), the Fourth District engaged in a legislative, policy making function in excess of its jurisdiction that creates numerous practical problems and leaves various questions unanswered. Not only that, but as noted in the Dissenting Opinion below, if the decision stands, the Fourth District's holding "will materially impair the interests of California consumers by fundamentally altering the structure of consumer protection laws in this state." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.) Review should be granted to correct the defects in the ruling in this regard.

Review should also be granted because the legal questions raised by the Petition are heavily contested and matters of statewide importance. Indeed, numerous amicus parties expressed conflicting concerns with respect to the ruling on the merits below, and the Fourth District itself was divided in a 2-1 decision. There have also been conflicting rulings on the same questions in several lower court cases, and the mandate in the Opinion is in conflict with numerous authorities governing civil law enforcement prosecutions under the UCL. Review by this Court is the only way to ensure uniformity of decisions on these important questions.

Finally, the Majority decided an important "legal issue incorrectly." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.) The ruling is plainly contrary to the intent of the UCL to protect consumers statewide in an efficient, streamlined fashion, using the state's full network of public prosecutors and courts in the process. It makes no sense to shield defendants from any part of the expressly authorized remedies in the UCL upon a properly filed complaint, merely because it is brought by a district attorney rather than the Attorney General. The UCL intentionally grants standing to both types of prosecutors to maximize enforcement for California consumers. (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204 & 17206, subd. (a) [expressly authorizing UCL actions to be filed by "the attorney general or a district attorney"].)

For each of these reasons, and those described in more detail below, the People's petition for review should be granted.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a government law enforcement action for unlawful and unfair competition under California Business and Professions Code Section 17200 *et seq.* (also known as the "UCL") filed by the District Attorney of the

County of Orange on behalf of the People of the State of California.¹ The People allege that Petitioners engaged in anticompetitive, unfair and unlawful business practices by intentionally delaying the sale of a generic version of a popular pharmaceutical drug to maximize their profits. (*See* Petitioner's Appendix, Ex. 7, at A.075-A.111 [attaching the operative complaint].)² The purpose of this action is to protect consumers and punish the corporate wrongdoers for their unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business practices as an exercise of the District Attorney's police powers. (FAC ¶¶ 1 & 4.)

A. The Complaint Adequately Alleges Standing, Jurisdiction, And Venue For This Action To Proceed In Orange County

The Complaint alleges "Plaintiff's Authority" for bringing the present action "pursuant to section 17200 of the California Business and Professions Code." (FAC ¶ 4.) There is no dispute that district attorneys have standing to pursue such claims "in the name of the people of the State of California." (See Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17204 & 17206 [expressly authorizing "any district attorney" to file civil actions under the UCL in the "name of the

Real Party in Interest, the People of the State of California, is herein

referred to as the "People" or the "Plaintiff."

The complaint was filed on October 4, 2016. (A.11-A.43.) The People filed their First Amended Complaint for Violations of California Unfair Competition Law, Seeking Restitution, Civil Penalties and Injunctive Relief (hereinafter the "Complaint" or the "FAC") on December 27, 2016. (A.75-A.111.) All further citations to "A" herein are to the page numbers in the Petitioner's Appendix.

People of the State of California"].) The Complaint further alleges a proper basis for jurisdiction over the Petitioners in Orange County, and adequately pleads that Orange County is a proper venue for this case to be heard. (*See* FAC ¶¶ 17-18.)

B. The FAC Alleges One Count Of Unlawful And Unfair Business Practices Under The UCL

The Complaint alleges that "the brand name manufacturers of Niaspan entered into agreements with generic drug manufacturers" whereby the generic drug manufacturers were paid to delay bringing "generic versions of Niaspan to market in the United States." (FAC ¶ 2.) Through this conspiracy, the Complaint alleges Petitioners: (a) illegally maintained monopoly power in the market for Niaspan in the United States from 2005 through March 2014; (b) illegally maintained the price of Niaspan at supracompetitive levels; and (c) caused consumers, their insurers, public healthcare providers, and other government payors to overpay millions of dollars by depriving them of access to less expensive generic versions of Niaspan. Petitioners spared no geographic market in their wrongdoing. Their unlawful monopoly thus affected the "geographic market" of the entire United States and its territories," including the State of California, and the County of Orange. (FAC ¶ 144.)

Based on the foregoing, the Complaint alleges one Count of Unfair Competition under Section 17200 against Petitioners for their unfair, anti-

competitive, and unlawfully monopolistic, business practices. (FAC ¶¶ 162-169.) The corporate conspiracy is alleged to be unlawful under several federal, state, statutory and/or common laws. (FAC ¶ 164.) The conduct is further alleged to be "unfair" under the UCL because it is offensive to "public policy," "substantially injurious to consumers," and such conduct stands to "significantly threaten and harm competition." (FAC ¶ 165.)

C. Just As In Any Other Complaint, The FAC Properly Prays For The Maximum Relief Authorized By Law

Plaintiff's "Prayer for Relief" seeks declaratory relief, injunctive relief, restitution and civil penalties, as well as costs, fees and any further relief the court deems proper. (A.110.) The prayer is alleged in a fashion to seek the maximum relief expressly authorized by law. (A.110; FAC, at p.35.) There is nothing defective in the manner of pleading the District Attorney's UCL case.

D. Petitioners Filed A Motion To Strike True Factual References To"California" In the Complaint

In addition to filing a demurrer, in response to the Complaint, Defendants filed a Motion to Strike (the "Motion") virtually all factual references to the state of "California" from the Complaint. (*See* A.116-126 [seeking to strike the word "California" and phrases containing the word California, such as "in California," "within California," "California users," "such as California purchasers," "across and within California," etc.].)

Defendants did not contend that any such allegations were false, but rather, argued that all factual references to California should be stricken on the grounds that "district attorneys and other local prosecutors have no jurisdiction to enforce and thus, can make no claims under the Unfair Competition Law outside the geographic boundaries of their local jurisdictions." (A.119.) Plaintiff opposed the Motion, citing the applicable statutory language in the UCL that grants the district attorneys standing and jurisdiction to seek the relief precisely as prayed for in the Complaint. (A.185-201.)

E. Respondent Court Denied The Motion To Strike, Reserving Judgment On The Amount Of Penalties For Another Day

At the hearing on the pleading motions, the Respondent Court found no legal authority supporting Defendants' Motion, and held that a ruling regarding the scope of penalties at the pleading stage was "premature." (A.239-246; *see also* A.229-230, A.232 & A.244.) Nevertheless, Defendants argued that the court should consider:

an issue like the scope of the remedy that this plaintiff can obtain, in advance, on a motion to strike. Because it will focus the case. It will focus discovery, it will ensure that ... these parties can negotiate with this plaintiff to resolve the proceeding, to understand the scope of any potential settlement that this plaintiff could enter into.

(A.243; *see also* A.246 [arguing "it makes sense to have the complaint reflect the recovery that this plaintiff can seek, which is why we have moved to strike"].) Respondent Court rejected the request to prematurely rule on the scope of relief in the case, and denied the Motion.

In support of this ruling, the trial court explained: "We all agree that the court can issue an injunction that applies throughout the state ... So the question really becomes, like everything else in the courthouse, money, right? So how much money are we talking about and where is the money going?" (A.244-246 & A.252.) "But that's kind of aways down the road." (A.244.) Defendants were given 30 days to answer the Complaint.

F. The Petition For Writ Of Mandate

The matter was presented to the Fourth District Court of Appeal on an extraordinary petition for writ of mandate following the denial of Defendants' Motion to Strike. Petitioners argued, once again, that their Motion should have been granted because the Orange County District Attorney ("OCDA") does not have "authority" to seek relief for California consumers outside the "geographic boundaries" of Orange County. (A.116-126.) Without reference to any of the particular allegations subject to the Motion, the Petitioners submitted the following legal question for review: "Does Business & Professions Code section 17204 ("§ 17204") permit a county district attorney to bring a claim that seeks relief for alleged injuries to residents of California counties whom he or she does not represent, based

on conduct occurring outside the county he or she serves." (Petition, at p.8.) The Fourth District entered an order to show cause on September 18, 2017, and invited formal briefing from the parties on the Petition at that time.

In Return to the Petition, the People demurred, arguing, among other things, that the legal question presented was premature and not ripe for review because "the trial court never ruled" on the scope of remedies to be awarded in the case. (Return at pp.12-14.) The People argued that the "only potentially justiciable issue presented" at this stage of the case was whether the Respondent Court abused her discretion in denying the Motion to Strike, and under well settled law, the People argued she did not. (Return at pp.26-51.) On the merits of Petitioners' legal question about the scope of permissible remedies, the People argued that there is no "geographical limitation" in the UCL on the remedies that a court of "competent jurisdiction" can award in a properly filed UCL case, and any suggestion to the contrary was not supported by the express language and intent of the UCL, or any other authority. (Return at pp.26-51.)

G. Numerous Amicus Parties Expressed Concerns With Respect To The Issue Presented

The answer to the broad legal question presented by Petitioner's Writ is heavily contested. Indeed, numerous amicus parties filed briefs in relation to the Petition for Writ of Mandate. (*See* Brief of the Attorney General as *Amicus Curiae* (the "AG Brief"); the Amicus Curiae Brief in Support of

Geographical Limitations on Civil Penalty Authority Under the Unfair Competition Law of the State of California by the California District Attorneys Association; the Amicus Curiae Brief of the City Attorneys of Los Angeles, San Diego, San Francisco, and San Jose, and the Santa Clara County Counsel, and the California State Association of Counties in Support of Real Party in Interest the People of the State of California; the Amicus Curiae Brief of the Consumer Attorneys of California in Support of Real Party in Interest the People of the State of California; and the Amici Curiae Brief of Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America and California Chamber of Commerce.)

With the exception of one footnote in the AG Brief, none of the amicus parties expressed an opinion with respect to the merits of the Motion to Strike or the particular allegations in this case. Rather, the amicus briefing focused primarily on a hypothetical discussion and conflicting set of concerns raised with respect to all stages of a UCL prosecution (*e.g.*, discovery, settlement, conflicts of interest, final judgments, post-trial motions, collateral estoppel, etc.) that could be impacted by the court's answer to the legal question presented in the Petition. It is clear from the amicus briefing that a ruling on the legal issue presented impacts all current, future, and potentially even former, UCL prosecutions in the state.

H. The Fourth District Granted The Petition And Mandated That The Motion To Strike Be Granted In A 2-1 Decision

On May 31, 2018, after full briefing and a hearing on the Petition, in a 2-1 decision, the Fourth District overruled the People's demurrer to the writ, granted the writ and ordered Respondent Court "to vacate its order denying the motion to strike ... and to enter a new and different order striking the allegations" subject to Defendants' Motion. (Opinion at p.39 [Majority Opinion by J. O'Rourke; Concurring, J. Huffman].) Although they did not analyze the Motion to Strike in any detail, in support of this ruling, the Majority answered the question presented as follows:

Though section 17204 confers standing on district attorneys to sue in the name of the people of the State of California, it cannot constitutionally or reasonably be interpreted to grant the District Attorney power to seek and recover restitution and civil penalty relief for violations occurring outside the jurisdiction of the county in which he was elected. A contrary conclusion would permit the District Attorney to ursurp the Attorney General's statewide authority and impermissibly bind his sister district attorneys, precluding them from pursuing their own relief. Thus, in the absence of written consent by the Attorney General and other county district attorneys, the District Attorney must confine such monetary recovery to violations occurring within the county he serves.

(Opinion at pp.4-5.)

In reaching this conclusion, the Majority relied heavily on dicta from a 1979 opinion from the First District, *People v. Hy-Lond Enters., Inc.* (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 734 [regarding the permissible injunctive terms of a final UCL judgment], as well as various authorities evaluating the general statutory and constitutionally established functions of district attorneys and the Attorney General in other contexts. (*See* Opinion at pp.15-21 [noting "The Attorney General ... is the chief law officer of the state" and distinguishing between situations when a "district attorney represents the state" or acts as a "county officer"]; Opinion at p.28 [holding "[w]e have no difficulty applying *Hy-Lond's* principles to bar a district attorney's unilateral effort to seek restitution and civil penalties for UCL violations occurring outside his or her own county jurisdiction"].)

The Majority ended their Opinion stating that the "foregoing conclusions are not broad policy pronouncements," but rather, a necessary "constitutional and statutory" interpretation of the UCL "to avoid doubts concerning the UCL's validity." (Opinion at p.38.)

I. Justice Dato's Dissenting Opinion Reaches A Different Result Entirely

The dissenting opinion, by Justice Dato, could not possibly disagree more. According to the dissent, the Majority Opinion

"violates" the general guidelines for intermediate appellate courts to "avoid broad legal policy pronouncements, leaving that to the Supreme Court and the Legislature." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.) "The majority then compound these judgmental errors by deciding the ill-considered legal issue incorrectly in a manner that will materially impair the interests of California consumers by fundamentally altering the structure of consumer protection laws in this state." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.)

The dissent points out an "immediate problem with the use of the motion-to-strike mechanism" for addressing the legal issue presented here. According to the dissent, "what the District Attorney requests in terms of civil penalties and restitution is largely irrelevant, for it is the *court* that ultimately decides the proper scope of monetary relief" in UCL cases. (Dis. Opn. at p.3 [emphasis in original].)

In response to the reasoning of the Majority, Justice Dato notes that "the majority rely on a phantom constitutional concern to craft a cure that is worse than even the perceived disease." (Dis. Opn., at p.7; see Maj. Opn. at p.38 [finding its holding necessary to avoid incentivizing district attorneys to "race [their colleagues] to the courthouse" in order to "obtain all of the civil penalties"].) "Consistent with the UCL's broad remedial purposes and the perceived need for vigorous enforcement, there is nothing

unconstitutional about the Legislature's decision to permit and encourage multiple public prosecutors with overlapping lines of authority on the theory that more enforcement in this context is better than less." (Dis. Opn. at p.7.)

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