Case No. S249895

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ABBOTT LABORATORIES; ABBVIE INC.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.; BARR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; AND DURAMED PHARMACEUTICAL SALES CORP.,

Petitioners,

us.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA EX REL. ORANGE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY TONY RACKAUCKAS,

Real Party in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District, Division One
Case No. D072577

Leguing a Writ of Mandata to Vaccate on

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

The District Attorney does not, and cannot, argue that *Hy-Lond* conflicts with the Court of Appeal's Opinion. Instead, he proclaims that *Hy-Lond*'s distinct procedural posture renders the portions of it relied upon in the Opinion "dicta." (Petition at p. 18; see also Dissent at pp. 9–10.) While it is true that *Hy-Lond* arose in the context of a district attorney's state-wide settlement of

UCL claims for monetary and injunctive relief, that does not render *Hy-Lond*'s determination "dicta." And it certainly does not mean that *Hy-Lond* is in conflict with the Opinion; it is not.

2. The Prior Conflict In Superior Court Decisions Is Irrelevant.

Unable to cite a single published Court of Appeal decision holding that a district attorney has unilateral authority to seek statewide relief under the UCL, the District Attorney points to conflicting trial court orders that predate the Opinion. (Petition at pp. 22–24.) The Court of Appeal's resolution of that conflict, however, is a reason for this Court to deny review, not to grant it.

It is well established that "[d]ecisions of every division of the District Courts of Appeal are binding upon all the . . . superior courts of this state[.]" (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.) Guidance from this Court is unnecessary to "secure uniformity of decision" among the superior courts, (Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)): the Court of Appeal's decision already did that.

3. There Is No Other Split of Authority.

The District Attorney alternatively suggests that the general principles relied upon by the Court of Appeal are subject to "conflicting interpretations" or otherwise unsettled. Again, he is wrong.

a. There Are No "Conflicting Interpretations" of the *Safer* Rule.

As discussed *supra*, § I.A, this Court has long held that district attorneys may prosecute civil litigation only when and to the extent they are specifically authorized to do so by the

Legislature. For the first time in his Petition, the District Attorney claims that the Court of Appeal inconsistently or incorrectly applied this so-called *Safer* rule. He is wrong.

As an initial matter, the Court should not consider this argument because the District Attorney did not raise it below. (Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1) ["As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal."]; Wilson v. 21st Century Ins. Co. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 713, 726 [declining to address an issue that petitioner did not brief to the court of appeal]; Angelucci v. Century Supper Club (2007) 41 Cal.4th 160, 180 [declining to reach various theories undeveloped in the Court of Appeal or trial court.) Defendants' writ petition extensively discussed Safer and its progeny, (see Petition for Writ of Mandate at pp. 29–34), but the District Attorney's return in the Court of Appeal did not cite Safer, let alone raise the many arguments about Safer that now appear in the Petition. (See generally Return to Petition for Writ of Mandate or Prohibition at pp. 5–7 [table of authorities].) In addition to affording a procedural basis to deny review, the District Attorney's failure to address address Safer before the Court of Appeal also speaks volumes as to the weakness of his argument.

On the merits, the Court of Appeal did not err in applying Safer. First, contrary to what the Petition claims, Blue Cross of California, Inc. v. Superior Court (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 138 (Blue Cross) did not eschew the Safer rule in favor of permitting a local prosecutor to bring UCL claims so long as "no statute"

provides to the contrary." (Petition at pp. 27–28.) *Blue Cross* concerned whether a wholly different statute could be interpreted to "strip" a local prosecutor of the authority the UCL otherwise granted to him; it did not address the powers granted to the local prosecutor under the UCL itself, which is the issue here.

In *Blue Cross*, a city attorney brought a claim against a managed health care service plan under the "unlawful" prong of the UCL, predicated on violations of the Knox-Keene Act, Health & Safety Code, section 1340 et seq. (*Blue Cross, supra*, 180 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1242–44.) The defendants acknowledged that section 17204 of the UCL specifically authorized the city attorney to bring claims to enjoin conduct made unlawful by another statute, but argued that the Knox-Keene Act "displac[ed] and subordinat[ed]" that authority by giving the California Department of Management Health Care regulatory and enforcement authority over health plans. (*Id.* at p. 1249).

The court disagreed, explaining, "the fact that there are alternative remedies under a specific statute does not preclude a UCL remedy, unless the statute itself provides that the remedy is to be exclusive." (*Ibid.* [quoting *State of California v. Altus Fin.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1284, 1303 (*Altus*).].) In the absence of a statute stating that said a city attorney could *not* use the Knox-Keene Act as the basis of UCL unlawfulness claim, the grant of authority in section 17204 of the UCL was all the authority the city attorney needed to seek injunctive relief. (*Blue Cross, supra*, 180 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1251–55; cf. *Altus, surpa*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1304 [finding that an exclusive remedies provision in the

Insurance code was such an exception].)

This holding is fully consistent with *Safer* and the Opinion, because section 17204 provided express authorization for the city attorney to bring the unlawfulness claim he alleged. (Accord *McKale*, *supra*, 25 Cal.3d at p. 633.)

The District Attorney also erroneously claims that the Safer rule applies only to a local prosecutor's representation of private parties in civil litigation, not to his bringing actions in the name of "the People." (Petition at p. 29.) But he cites no case to support this proposition and Safer certainly does not suggest that its holding was so limited. To the contrary, Safer rested on the principle—equally applicable to actions in the name of "the People"—that "[by] the specificity of its enactments, the Legislature has manifested its concern that the district attorney exercise the power of his office only in such civil litigation as that lawmaking body has, after careful consideration, found essential." (Safer, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 236). Indeed, in "set[ing] forth illustrative statutes which specifically empower a district attorney to bring a civil action," Safer listed a wide variety of civil enforcement actions—it did not limit these illustrations of its rule to the narrow circumstances proposed by the District Attorney. (Ibid. [citing, inter alia, Bus. & Prof. Code, § 16754, which permits a district attorney to "enforce certain business regulation laws;" Gov. Code, § 26521, which authorizes a district attorney to bring actions to collect fines; Gov. Code, § 26528, which authorizes suits by district attorneys to abate public nuisances "in the name of the People"].). Given Safer's reasoning, it is no

surprise that it has been applied broadly—including by this Court in a UCL enforcement case brought by a district attorney. (See *McKale*, *supra*, 25 Cal.3d at p. 633.)

Next, the District Attorney—again citing no case in support—argues that a 1980 amendment to Government Code section 26500 affords him plenary authority to bring civil claims as the "public prosecutor, except as otherwise provided by law." (Petition at p. 30–31.) But as Safer itself explains, section 26500's reference to "public prosecutor" applies only to "matters criminal"; it does not address civil enforcement at all. (Safer, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 237 fn. 11.)

The 1980 amendment did not alter that rule. The bill was principally addressed to technical changes in the manner in which misdemeanors charges are filed. (Stats. 1980, ch. 1094, p. 3507.) Nothing in the bill or its legislative history⁵ purports to redefine "public prosecutor," or to legislatively reverse this Court's decision in *Safer*, decided just five years earlier.

Under the circumstances, the District Attorney's suggestion that the Legislature so drastically changed the law without expressing a clear intent to do so "suffers from a surface implausibility." (California Redevelopment Assn. v. Matosantos (2011) 53 Cal. 4th 231, 260.) Indeed, it would be "unusual in the extreme," for the Legislature "to adopt so fundamental of a change only by way of implication," in a bill "facially dealing with" completely unrelated matters. (Ibid.) The "drafters of

⁵ See Request for Judicial Notice in Support of Defendants' Answer to Petition for Review, Ex. A.

legislation 'do not, one might say, hide elephants in mouseholes." (Id. at p. 261, brackets omitted, quoting Whitman v. American Trucking Assns., Inc. (2001) 531 U.S. 457, 468; see also In re Christian S. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 768, 782 ["We are not persuaded the Legislature would have silently, or at best obscurely, decided so important and controversial a public policy matter and created a significant departure from the existing law."].).)

It is thus unsurprising that more recent decisions of both this Court and the Court of Appeal continue to read Government Code section 26500 as applying only to criminal matters. (See *Pitts v. Cty. of Kern* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 340, 359 [citing § 26500 as addressed to the district attorney's role "when prosecuting criminal violations of state law"]; *Solus, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 41–42 [rejecting the District Attorney's argument that § 26500 provides him plenary power to bring civil enforcement cases "except as otherwise provided by law"].)

Given that being the "public prosecutor" has always entailed only criminal prosecution, the Legislature's 1980 addition of the phrase "except as otherwise provided by law" suggests a Legislative recognition that a district attorney's noncriminal litigation activity must, in contrast, be expressly authorized by statute—which essentially codifies Safer. Thus, even after the 1980 amendment, this Court has continued to apply the Safer rule to situations where district attorneys pursue civil litigation. (See PG&E, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1156 [recognizing that district attorneys can bring claims under the Cartwright Act only because a statute expressly authorizes them

to do so, citing Safer].)

Finally, the District Attorney contends that the Opinion is contrary to a rule that "a district attorney has the authority to participate in noncriminal actions or proceedings that are in aid of or auxiliary to the district attorney's usual duties." (Petition at p. 31, quoting *People v. Parmar* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 781, 798 (Parmar).) Although the District Attorney characterizes three cases as supporting the proposition that "UCL actions, although civil in nature, are 'in aid of or auxiliary to' the district's exercise of his police power in criminal prosecutions," (Petition at p. 31), none of them support his claim. Nor do they have anything at all to do with "UCL actions." Two cases address a district attorney's authority to bring claims for public nuisance—authority that, consistent with Safer, is expressly provided statute. (See Parmar, supra, 86 Cal.App.4th at p. 798 [noting authority provided to district attorney by Gov. Code, § 26528 and Civ. Code, § 731]; Bd. of Sup'rs of Los Angeles Cty. v. Simpson (1951) 36 Cal.2d 671, 675 [same].). The third case permitted a district attorney to represent the county of his jurisdiction in connection with administrative welfare benefit proceedings, as auxiliary to his duty to prosecute welfare fraud and to collect unpaid child support in that county. (Rauber v. Herman (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 942, 951–53.)6

⁶ The Court of Appeal subsequently distinguished *Rauber*, holding that absent specific statutory authorization, the *Safer* rule barred district attorneys from representing county wards in other civil proceedings less intertwined with criminal enforcement and where the county was already represented by counsel. (See *In re Dennis H.* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 94, 102.) As noted above, the California constitution assigns to the Attorney

Regardless, this Court has applied the *Safer* rule to the question of what civil litigation claims a district attorney may pursue under the scope of authority afforded by the UCL. (*McKale*, *supra*, 25 Cal.3d at p. 633.)

In sum, the Petition does not identify any inconsistency in the Opinion's application of the *Safer* rule; there is none.

b. The Opinion Is Not Inconsistent with "Law Governing UCL Enforcement Actions."

Nor is there a conflict between the Opinion and *In re Tobacco II Cases* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 298, 320 (*Tobacco II*). The Petition argues that, by requiring the District Attorney to establish that UCL violations occurred in Orange County, the Opinion somehow runs afoul of *Tobacco II's* rule that "under the UCL, relief is typically 'available without individualized proof of deception, reliance and injury." (Petition at pp. 25–26, quoting *Tobacco II*, *supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 320.) But this conflates the elements of a fraud-based UCL claim (the likes of which are not asserted here) with the extent of the District Attorney's authority and is not inconsistent with the Opinon.

Tobacco II concerned the extent to which the typical fraud concepts of reliance and causation are also applicable to UCL claims that are based on deceptive advertising. (Tobacco II, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 312 ["We are here concerned with the third prong of the statute—an allegation of a fraudulent business act or practice"]; id. at pp. 321–22.) Here, by contrast, the District

General the duty to enforce non-criminal California law on a statewide basis.

Attorney's theory centers on an allegedly anticompetitive settlement of patent litigation that allegedly denied consumers access to a lower-priced generic version of Niaspan. (See Ex. 7 at pp. 86–102.) The fraud concepts addressed in *Tobacco II* are irrelevant here.

The Petition also cites Justice Baxter's concurring and dissenting opinion in *Tobacco II*. (Petition at pp. 35–36.) But read in context, the general proposition in the cited language—that "Public enforcement suits are not constrained by Proposition 64's class action restrictions, and in such actions, the court may order the full range of remedies specified in the statute"—has no bearing on whether the remedial provisions of the UCL permit local prosecutors to seek statewide relief. (See *Tobacco II*, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 337 (conc. & dis. opn. of Baxter. J), italics original.) That issue was not addressed in *Tobacco II*, a private enforcement action.

Moreover, there is nothing unusual about the Opinion's requirement that the District Attorney prove that a UCL violation occurred within his jurisdiction. The same requirement would exist with respect to statewide claims, because the UCL does not operate extraterritorially. (See *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1191, 1207.) The District Attorney alleged that Niaspan was sold throughout the United States. (See Ex. 8 at p. 106.) Just as it would not offend the UCL to require the Attorney General to prove conduct within California's borders to bring a statewide claim relating to sales of Niaspan, it does not offend the UCL to require the District Attorney to prove violations

within Orange County.

C. The District Attorney's Contentions that the Opinion "Is Legally Erroneous" Do Not Merit Review.

Review in this Court also is not merited based on the District Attorney's contention that the "Opinion is legally erroneous[.]" (Petition at p. 34.) As an initial matter, the hodgepodge of "errors" asserted in the Petition are not errors at all. In any event, none of these meets the prerequisites for review in this Court. (Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1); see *Briggs v. Brown* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 808, 861; *People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 348.)

1. Statutory Authorizations for Courts to Award Certain Forms of Relief Do Not Expand Local Law Enforcement Officials' Powers to Obtain It.

The District Attorney claims that because the UCL's remedial provisions are framed in terms of the authority of "the court" to award relief, (see §§ 17203, 17206), a court may award any relief authorized by the UCL, regardless of whether a particular plaintiff itself is permitted to seek or obtain it. The only prerequisites, according to the Petition, are that the plaintiff has standing to bring some UCL claim and that the court has jurisdiction to entertain it. (Petition at p. 35.) This argument was not raised in the District Attorney's briefing below, (Compare Petition at pp. 34–36 with Return to Petition for Writ of Mandate or Prohibition), and the Court should not consider it (Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1)). It is, in any event, manifestly wrong.

A statutory authorization for a court to award a type of

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